Case 2020AP001775 Petition for Review Filed 04-08-2022 Page 1 of 21

FILED 04-08-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2020AP1775

NANCY KINDSCHY,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

BRIAN AISH,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Petition for Review from the Court of Appeals, Division III.
There heard on appeal from the Circuit Court for Trempealau County, the
Honorable Rian W. Radtke, Presiding.

Respectfully Submitted,

THOMAS MORE SOCIETY Joan M. Mannix Illinois State Bar No. 6201561 Admitted Pro Hac Vice

BUTING, WILLIAMS & STILLING, S.C.
Dudley A. Williams
State Bar No. 1005730

Address:

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether Wis. Stat. §813.125, as construed by the Court of Appeals to prohibit speech from a public sidewalk intended to persuade listeners to cease their sinful conduct (participation in abortion) and repent immediately before something bad happens and they no longer have time to repent, violates the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and Art. I, §3 of the Wisconsin Constitution?

Circuit Court Answer: No Appellate Court Answer: No

Whether speech from a public sidewalk intended to persuade listeners, even if directed to a specific listener, to cease sinful conduct (participation in abortion) and repent immediately before something bad happens and there is no longer time to repent serves "no legitimate purpose" within the meaning of Wis. Stat. §813.125?

Circuit Court Answer: No Appellate Court Answer: No

Whether enjoining, for a period of four years, a longtime pro-life, anti-Planned Parenthood protestor from protesting on a public sidewalk in front of a Planned Parenthood during its business hours because he made comments urging a Planned Parenthood worker to repent before something bad happens and there was no more time to repent, constitutes an unconstitutional restraint on First Amendment protected expression?

Circuit Court Answer: No Appellate Court Answer: No

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

1. This case presents a real and significant question of federal and state constitutional law.

This case presents real and significant questions of federal and state constitutional law as they relate to the construction and application of Wis. Case 2020AP001775 Petition for Review Filed 04-08-2022 Page 4 of 21

Stat. §813.125. Here, the Circuit Court entered a four year injunction against Petitioner, Brian Aish ("Aish"), a long time pro-life protester, that effectively bars him from protesting in front of the Planned Parenthood where he had previously regularly protested. The injunction was based on the claimed impact his speech had, "even coming from a place of love or nonaggression," on a Planned Parenthood employee. The Circuit Court found that the speech "appear[ed] to be intimidating," even though made in the context of "trying" to convey a message of repentance, a message in an attempt to encourage someone to turn their life over and turn to Jesus," and "trying to share the gospel," and also opposing Planned Parenthood because it performs abortions "that result in the loss of life of unborn children and that is what Mr. Aish was wanting to stop or change the behavior of by his protesting here." (App. 21-22). The Circuit Court and the Court of Appeals found that speech, uttered from a public sidewalk outside Planned Parenthood, seeking to "scare" a perceived sinner to cease her conduct and to repent before it is too late, is speech with no legitimate purpose. As broadly construed by both the Circuit Court and the Court of Appeals to prohibit and punish the speech at issue in this case, Wis. Stat. §813.125 is unconstitutional as violative of the First Amendment to U.S. Constitution, as well as Article I, §3 of the Wisconsin Constitution.

2. A decision by the Supreme Court will help develop, clarify or harmonize the law, and the question presented is a question of law of the type likely to recur.

Review by this Court is warranted since the question presented is a question of law relating to the misinterpretation of the "no legitimate purpose" language of Wis. Stat. §813.125. That issue is likely to recur, especially if the Court of Appeals' published decision is permitted to stand, unless resolved by this Court. The appropriate construction of that language continues to vex the courts, as it did the Circuit Court and the Court of

Case 2020AP001775 Petition for Review Filed 04-08-2022 Page 5 of 21

Appeals in this case. In this case, the Court of Appeals did exactly what this Court in *Bachowski v. Salamone*, 139 Wis. 2d 397, 407 N.W.2d 533 (1987) indicated was impermissible. As this Court stated in *Bachowski*, "[Wis. Stat. §813.125] is not directed at the exposition of ideas but at oppressing repetitive behavior which invades another's privacy interests in an intolerable manner." *Id.* at 411. The Court of Appeals, however, interpreted this Court's decision in *Bachowksi* as supporting a finding that Wis. Stat. §813.125 can be used to silence and punish the exposition of an idea, such as the "bad things can happen, repent now" speech at issue in this case. Similarly, the Circuit Court concluded it was intimidating to cause Kindschy "to even think about that she might get killed on her way home or bad things are going to happen to her and her family." (App. 28). A decision by this Court in this case will correct that misinterpretation and allow this Court to provide further guidance and definition of the boundaries between speech which violates Wis. Stat. §813.125 and speech that is protected by the First Amendment and Art. I, §3 of the Wisconsin Constitution.

3. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with controlling decisions of this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court.

The decisions of the U.S. Supreme Court make it clear that the kind of speech here cannot be punished because of disagreement with the message, or because listeners find the message disturbing, distasteful or frightening. See e.g., *Snyder v. Phelps*, 562 U.S. 443, 452 (2011). The Court of Appeals' decision also conflicts with the decision of this Court in *Bachowksi*, as discussed *supra*.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 10, 2020, Respondent, Nancy Kindschy ("Kindschy"), a Nurse Practitioner at the Planned Parenthood located in Blair, Wisconsin

Case 2020AP001775 Petition for Review Filed 04-08-2022 Page 6 of 21

("Blair Planned Parenthood"), petitioned for the entry of a temporary restraining order and permanent injunction against Aish, a pro-life protester who had regularly protested at that Blair Planned Parenthood since it opened in April, 2019. (R.1-4, 35-5).

Proceedings Before The Circuit Court

The Circuit Court found that Aish "to be very credible as to what happened on the incidents, as well as his positions on his religious beliefs." (App. 19). Aish, a retired law enforcement officer, testified that he is a Christian who believes that "salvation is only through Jesus Christ and through repentance...." (R. 36-27, 35). He protests at Planned Parenthood to "stand for children." (R. 36-27, 28). His priority is to share the gospel, to warn women they will be accountable to God on the day of judgment if they proceed, and to try to persuade them to repent. (R. 36-29, 30).

After the last appointments for the day, Aish stays until the employees check out "because they all stand condemned apart from Jesus Christ and [he] just want[s] them to hear the gospel and [he] want[s] them to turn away from their sin..." He urges them not to wait because bad things can happen and they might not make it to the next week when he sees them again and has another opportunity to try to persuade them to repent. (R. 36-30, 31, 34, 35).

Aish knew Kindschy was a Lutheran because he believed she previously told him that. (R. 36-32, 46). He asked her if she was Lutheran to try to get a dialog going with her - something he had done many times over the years he had known her. (R. 36-32). Aish has had several dialogues through the years with Kindschy; his goal is to try to get the workers to open up, plant a seed and get them to think about what they are doing. (R. 36-37).

Aish denied any desire to harm or intimidate Kindschy. (R. 36-35, 40). When he said that bad things, like drunk drivers happen, and Kindschy could die, he said this because he is aware that 7,000 people a day die in the

Case 2020AP001775 Petition for Review Filed 04-08-2022 Page 7 of 21

United States and, he wants her to turn away from sin and put her faith in Jesus Christ before it is too late. (R. 36-35, 36).

He addresses all the clinic employees. (R. 36-32, 33, 40, 41). He does not talk to the employees with an intent to harass or intimidate them; he talks to them because he loves them and is trying to persuade them to repent, without delay, by sharing "the gospel" - "the truth" with them. All of the signs Aish uses have Bible verses written on them and when he speaks he repeats Bible verses and warnings that God gives "through his word." (R. 36-33, 34, 41).

The Video Evidence Submitted In Support Of Kindschy's Harassment Claim Demonstrates That The Circuit Court And Court Of Appeals Misconstrued Wis. Stat. §813.125 To Encompass Constitutionally Protected Conduct

At the hearing before the Circuit Court, a video taken by Kindschy on her cell phone of her interaction with Aish was displayed to Circuit Court and introduced into evidence. Kindschy testified Aish's conduct, as displayed in the video was typical of his behavior on other occasions which Kindschy alleged in support of her claimed need for an injunction. (R. 35-39, 40). That video is part of the record and available for viewing by the Court. See Order of the Court of Appeals dated January 15, 2021.

The 50 second recording shows Kindschy walking along a cement walkway which, straight ahead, ends in a sidewalk. To the left of the cement walkway is an area paved in asphalt. The recording briefly shows a person walking alongside Kindschy to her right. Kindschy walks toward Aish, who is standing on the sidewalk at its intersection with the end of the asphalt. Aish holds a sign that says, "THOSE WHO LOVE ME, OBEY ME! JESUS."

Kindschy walks towards Aish. Aish speaks but his words are, for the most part, drowned out by the sound of the wheels on the bags rolled behind two other individuals, presumably other clinic employees, who walk between

Case 2020AP001775 Petition for Review Filed 04-08-2022 Page 8 of 21

Aish and Kindschy. Those employees turn in front of Kindschy and walk out of the frame to her left. Aish turns in the direction in which the other clinic employees have walked and says something about, "Don't profess to be a Christian [inaudible].\(^1\) The recording then turns towards a car (presumably Kindschy's), which has the driver's side backseat door open. Kindschy's car is parked the closest to where Aish is standing on the sidewalk. In the background Aish can be heard saying something about "lies" and then, "You know who the father of all lies is? [inaudible] Christian [inaudible]."

The recording pans back toward Aish on the sidewalk, briefly showing a security guard standing off to the side of Kindschy's car. Aish, who has partially turned back toward Kindschy states, "If I remember right, you are Lutheran aren't you? Kindschy turns away from Aish and back to her. Kindschy then turns back toward Aish who says, "You understand the father of all lies is Satan, not God. You mock but he'll be mocking on the day of your day of judgment." The recording cuts away and appears to show Kindschy getting into the front driver's seat of her car. Aish is heard in the background stating, "I'll pray that you guys make it home safely for another day that you can turn to Christ and repent." The recording turns back to the security guard, who remains standing off to the side of Kindschy's car, at the intersection of the cement walkway and asphalted area. The recording briefly turns back to Aish, who is still standing on the sidewalk and who says, "You still have time". The recording pans back to the security guard and then ends.

The Circuit Court's Ruling

Following hearings on July 13, 2020 and September 9, 2020, the Circuit Court found that Aish made the statements at issue to "scare"

-

¹ Quotes from the recording have been transcribed as accurately as possible given the difficulty in discerning each of the words spoken by Aish as depicted in the recording.

Case 2020AP001775 Petition for Review Filed 04-08-2022 Page 9 of 21

Kindschy into leaving her employment with Planned Parenthood and to embrace Aish's religious beliefs. (App. 23-24). The alleged statements were to the effect that bad things, like death, can happen to oneself and one's family at any time, and so Kindschy should immediately repent before it was too late to do so. (App. 22-23).

The Circuit Court concluded the comments "would intimidate somebody," "even coming from a place of love or nonaggression," and despite the Circuit Court's additional finding that Aish was not being angry or aggressive. (App. 23).

Despite these findings, the Circuit Court concluded that Aish's statements were intimidating because they "address somebody's loss of life or their family members being hurt or harmed." (App. 23). The Circuit Court concluded it was intimidating to cause Kindschy "to even think about that she might get killed on her way home or bad things are going to happen to her and her family." (App. 28).

The Circuit Court further found that Aish's actions did not serve any legitimate purpose, finding, "I don't find it's a legitimate purpose to use that intimidation to get someone to leave their job because the person making the intimidating statements doesn't agree with the position of that employment or what that employer stands for, and I don't also believe that it's a legitimate purpose to intimidate someone to get them to change or reaffirm their religious beliefs. I don't believe that that's a legitimate purpose here." (App. 28-29).

The Court held these were not legitimate purposes because:

We live in a country where not everybody has the same religious beliefs.... [W]e live in a country where ... freedom of expression and religion is -- is a right that people have and so to say that -- that to force someone -- or not force someone, to scare someone through things that may from the perspective of someone's religious beliefs might be important to tell

Case 2020AP001775 Petition for Review Filed 04-08-2022 Page 10 of 21

somebody, somebody else could look at that as being scared or intimidated to change their religion or change how they're living in their religion or to change their job and to use a religious basis for that. I don't see here in the state of Wisconsin or the United States that that is a legitimate purpose for expressing someone's religious rights... but I think it's difficult because I think on one hand you have Mr. Aish expressing his First Amendment rights to protest and have his opinions and his views on this and the question is has this gone too far to the point where the Court by its order here today is going to say no, you can't express that and in particular to this person or in this manner, I think that's -- it's very serious. These are First Amendment rights that are very guarded and protected in our nation and in our state; but, on the other hand, to then say that Ms. Kindschy is to endure being intimidated with statements that make her have to even think about that she might get killed on her way home or bad things are going to happen to her and her family, I think that that crosses the line into an area of not -- not a legitimate purpose in this particular case.... (App. 27-28).

On September 9, 2020, the Circuit Court entered an injunction against Aish barring him, until September 9, 2024, from harassing Kindschy and requiring him to avoid Kindschy's residence and/or any premises temporarily occupied by her, including the Blair Planned Parenthood at which Aish formerly protested. (R. 23-2, 3; App. 30-33).

On October 5, 2020, the Circuit Court denied Aish's Motion For Reconsideration in which he argued that the court committed manifest error "by determining that Mr. Aish's right to assemble and his right to freedom of expression under the First Amendment was not a legitimate purpose." (R. 26-1).

On October 22, 2020, Aish filed his Notice of Appeal (R. 28-1, 2).

Proceedings Before The Court of Appeals

On March 8, 2021, the Court of Appeals issued its Opinion affirming the Circuit Court's injunction ruling and rejecting all of the claims of error asserted by Aish. (App. 1-13). Central to the Court of Appeals' decision

Case 2020AP001775 Petition for Review Filed 04-08-2022 Page 11 of 21

was its incorrect belief that the Circuit Court found "found that Aish intimidated Kindschy by repeatedly making threats to Kindschy and her family." (App. 6-7, ¶14. See also App. 5, ¶10 ("The court further found that Aish's repeated statements that Kindschy would be "lucky" if she made it home safely and that bad things would start happening to her family were threatening.") And, App. 8, ¶18 ("Although Aish argues that the video evidence does not support a determination that he was threatening or intimidating Kindschy, the circuit court found to the contrary....") And, App. 8, ¶19 ("[Aish] berated [Kindschy] with veiled threats suggesting harm toward both Kindschy and her family....")

To the contrary, although the Circuit Court found that someone could be intimidated by the comments made by Aish, it made no finding that Aish made any threats against Kindschy and her family. Instead, the Circuit Court concluded that comments by Aish:

appear to be intimidating and even in the context that is presented here of trying to convey a message of repentance, a message in an attempt to encourage someone to turn their life over and turn to Jesus is the context based on the testimony of Mr. Aish of what he was trying to do, trying to share the gospel, and also has a stance of being against the things that Planned Parenthood does, which include abortions... that the protest was the fact that Planned Parenthood itself, even though not at this particular facility, is engaged in procedures that result in the loss of life of unborn children and that is what Mr. Aish was wanting to stop or change the behavior of by his protesting here." (App. 21-23).

The Circuit Court found these kinds of statements were intimidating, but it never found that they constituted threats against Kindschy and her family or that Aish acted angrily or aggressively:

So the Court finds even in that context that that would be intimidating to tell somebody, even if it's in the context of Case 2020AP001775 Petition for Review Filed 04-08-2022 Page 12 of 21

wanting to send this message and even coming from a place of love or nonaggression, which I didn't find any aggression in the February 18, 2020 video, and Ms. Kindschy testified that the other incidents were similar in nature as to tone, although there was some testimony that Mr. Aish was loud or aggressive. Based on the testimony here I think it's more likely that Mr. Aish is passionate about his beliefs and not that he was being angry or aggressive; however, that doesn't mean that somebody can't on the receiving end feel that it was aggressive or loud. But, nonetheless, I do find that there was intimidation Mr. Aish made towards Ms. Kindschy, these statements of "bad things happening to you and your family" and "you're lucky if you make it home safe." Those types of things certainly would intimidate somebody because they lead to -- they are statements that address somebody's loss of life or their family members being hurt or harmed and certainly that would intimidate somebody. (App. 23).

Contrary to the Court of Appeals belief that the Circuit Court found that Aish threatened Kindschy and her family, the Circuit Court found that Aish's behavior was not angry or aggressive and came from "a place of love or nonaggression." (R. 36-83, 84). It was undisputed that the purpose of Aish's comments were to influence Kindschy to leave her employment, to shut down Planned Parenthood, and to proselytize.

The Court of Appeals rejected Aish's argument that his conduct was for a legitimate First Amendment purpose and protected by the First Amendment (App. 8-12), in short because, "The court correctly determined that the First Amendment does not uphold a right to threaten or scare people in order to sway their religious beliefs or induce them to quit their jobs." (App. 12, ¶29). Again, however, the Court of Appeals' decision rested on the same mistaken conclusion that the Circuit Court had made a factual finding that Aish threatened Kindschy and her family.

Case 2020AP001775 Petition for Review Filed 04-08-2022 Page 13 of 21

ARGUMENT

I.

AS CONSTRUED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT AND THE COURT OF APPEALS, WIS. STAT. § 813.125 IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL. THE CIRCUIT COURT AND THE COURT OF APPEALS CONSTRUED WIS. STAT. § 813.125 TO PROHIBIT FIRST AMENDMENT PROTECTED SPEECH RELATING TO PUBLIC CONCERNS IN A PUBLIC FORUM BECAUSE IT WAS DISTURBING AND UPSETTING TO A LISTENER.

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