FILED 04-25-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2020AP1775

NANCY KINDSCHY,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

BRIAN AISH,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT III, APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED BY THE TREMPEALEAU COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE RIAN W. RADTKE, PRESIDING

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Diane M. Welsh, SBN 1030940 Leslie A. Freehill, SBN 1095620 PINES BACH LLP 122 W. Washington Avenue, Ste. 900 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 Telephone: (608) 251-0101 Facsimile: (608) 251-2883 dwelsh@pinesbach.com Ifreehill@pinesbach.com

Attorneys for Petitioner-Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
ARGUMENT
I. The court of appeals properly upheld the circuit court's factual finding that Aish's statements and conduct were intended to and did intimidate Kindschy, and that such targeted intimidation is not protected by the First Amendment
II. The court of appeals properly upheld the circuit court's finding that Aish's intimidating statements and behavior served no legitimate purpose protected by the First Amendment16
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATION BY ATTORNEY

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)	
1 450(0)	

Cases

<i>American Life League v. Reno</i> , 47 F.3d 642 (4th Cir. 1995)
Bachowski v. Salamone, 139 Wis. 2d 397, 407 N.W.2d 533 (1987)4, 17
<i>Bd. of Regents-UW Sys. v. Decker</i> , 2014 WI 68, 355 Wis. 2d 800, 850 N.W.2d 112 17, 18
Bible Believers v. Wayne County, Michigan, 805 F.3d 228 (6th Cir. 2015)15
<i>Frisby v. Schultz</i> , 487 U.S. 474, 108 S.Ct. 2495 (1988)
<i>Hill v. Colorado</i> , 530 U.S. 703 (2000)17
International Soc'y for Krishna Consciousness v. Lee, 505 U.S. 672, 112 S.Ct. 2701 (1992)18
<i>Snyder v. Phelps</i> , 562 U.S. 443 (2011)
Statutes
Wis. Stat. § 813.125 passim
Wis. Stat. § 813.125(1)(am)(4)b10
Other Authorities
U.S. Constitution First Amendment passim
U.S. Constitution Fourth Amendment
Wisconsin Constitution Art. I, § 310

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Brian Aish ("Aish") attempts to make a First Amendment case out of his garden variety harassment of Respondent Nancy Kindschy ("Kindschy"), a nurse practitioner. The harassment injunction issued by the circuit court in response to Aish's repetitive, intimidating statements concerning death and bodily harm, directed at Kindschy while following her, does not unconstitutionally restrain his First Amendment speech, merely because he harassed an employee of a family planning clinic. Nor does the injunction muddy this Court's bright line between protected speech relating to public concerns and "repetitive behavior which invades another's privacy interests in an intolerable manner." Bachowski v. Salamone, 139 Wis. 2d 397, 411, 407 N.W.2d 533, 539 (1987). Because neither the injunction nor the court of appeals decision implicates any question of constitutional import, the law on harassment requires no clarification, and the court of appeals decision does not conflict with controlling precedent, this court should deny Aish's Petition for Review.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nancy Kindschy has worked as a nurse practitioner at the Blair Health Center, which is operated by Planned Parenthood of Wisconsin, since August 2019. (R.35:4-51.) The Blair Health Center provides family planning services; it is not an abortion clinic, (R.35:29), and Brian Aish knew this. (R.36:27.)

Since 2014, Aish had protested at various family planning clinics where Kindschy has been employed. (R.35:5, 10, 21, 29.) Earlier interactions between Aish and Kindschy had been less confrontational

Page 5 of 20

conversations concerning Aish and his religious beliefs. (R.35:11, 22, 29.) However, in the fall of 2019, Aish's behavior toward Kindschy significantly changed. On October 8, 2019, instead of standing on the sidewalk with a sign where he usually protested, Aish followed Kindschy to her car. (R.35:7.) While standing approximately three to four feet from her car, Aish stated that Kindschy might be killed on her way home and that it would not be too long before bad things started happening to her and her family. (R.35:27.) In following encounters, Aish's behavior continued on an aggressive trajectory, with Aish confronting Kindschy with a cold and angry demeanor, frightening Kindschy. (R.35:15.) On October 29, 2019, when Kindschy was leaving work, Aish "ran out into the road after [her] pumping his anti-abortion sign into [her] car window within inches of it." (R.35:14.)

Aish specifically singled out Kindschy from her fellow employees. (R.35:19; R.36:19.) On February 18, 2020, as Kindschy left work, Aish followed Kindschy directly to her vehicle. (R.35:15.) Aish stated that Kindschy would be lucky if she got home safely, she could possibly be killed, and that bad things were going to start happening to her family. (R.35:15-16, 64.) Then on February 25, 2020, Aish angrily accused Kindschy of lying to the authorities about him and told her that she would be lucky to make it home safely, which caused her "great concern." (R.35:19.)

Fearing for her safety, Kindschy petitioned for a harassment injunction against Aish on March 10, 2020. (R.1.) The Honorable Rian W. Radtke held a hearing on July 13 and September 9, 2020. (R.35, 36.) During the hearing, the circuit court heard testimony from Kindschy; her co-workers, Shonda Racine and Jessica Berenak; Aish; and his wife, Anna Aish. (R.35, R.36.) The witnesses testified concerning the

incidents on October 8, 15, and 29, 2019 and February 18 and 25, 2020 at the Blair Health Center. (R.35, R.36.) The circuit court also reviewed brief video footage of the incident on February 18, 2020. (R.24.) The court found Kindschy and her supporting witnesses to be credible. (R.36:80; App.19:8-10, 19-21.) Based on the evidence, the circuit court found Aish repeatedly committed acts that intimidated and harassed Kindschy. (R.36:84; App.23:16-20.) It found that Aish's repeated statements that Kindschy would be lucky if she made it home safely and that bad things would start happening to her family were threatening, and that those threats were specific to Kindschy. (R36:82-84; App.21:14-22:7, 23:1-22.) It further found that Aish used intimidation with intent to scare Kindschy into quitting her employment with Planned Parenthood. (R.36:85-89; App.24:4-28:7.) The circuit court's findings were based on testimony concerning Aish's words and conduct on three separate instances, which the court concluded "certainly would intimidate somebody because they lead to-they are statements that address somebody's loss of life or their family members being hurt or harmed and certainly that would intimidate somebody." (R.36:84; App.23:20-25.)

The circuit court next addressed whether Aish's conduct served any legitimate purpose under Wis. Stat. § 813.125, concluding that "it seems from the Court's review of the evidence presented that the purpose was to scare Ms. Kindschy." (R.36:85; App.24:15-18.) Further, the court found, "these scare statements were designed to get Ms. Kindschy to leave her employment or to stop doing what she was doing" or, alternatively, "to get Ms. Kindschy to adopt … Mr. Aish's religious beliefs." (R.36:86; App.25:11-18.) Explaining that there existed "differing opinions" on whether that purpose was legitimate, the court explained that Aish thought they were "from the sense of saving the lives of unborn children and also [] from the religious perspective of saving Ms. Kindschy's soul." (R.36:86; App.25:21-25.) Although the court explained it "could see" Aish's viewpoint, "on the other hand, I can see Ms. Kindschy's position that this is not a legitimate purpose to use intimidation and scare tactics to get someone to leave their job, to get someone to change their religion." (R.36:87; App.26:6-10.) Weighing the two, the court concluded that although

First Amendment rights [] are very guarded and very protected...to then say that Ms. Kindschy is to endure being intimidated with statements that make her have to even think about that she might be killed on her way home or bad things are going to happen to her and her family, I think that that crosses the line into an area of not – not a legitimate purpose... I don't find it's a legitimate purpose to use that intimidation to get someone to leave their job because the person making the intimidating statements doesn't agree with the position of that employment or what that employer stands for, and I don't also believe that it's a legitimate purpose to intimidate someone to get them to change or reaffirm their religious beliefs. I don't believe that's a legitimate purpose here.

(R.36:88-90; App. 27:23-28:7, 28:21-29:7.) The court issued an injunction against Aish barring him, until September 9, 2024, from harassing Kindschy and requiring him to avoid Kindschy's residence or any premises temporarily occupied by her, including the clinic at which she works (R.23; App.14-16; R.36:91-94; App.30:10-33:8.)

The court of appeals affirmed, engaging in a detailed analysis of the circuit court's factual findings and rejecting Aish's claim that his intimidating statements and conduct toward Kindschy were constitutionally protected protest.

In regard to the circuit court's factual findings, the court of appeals concluded correctly that the circuit court had found Aish "directed his comments toward Kindschy" and "intimidated Kindschy by repeatedly making threats to Kindschy and her family." (App.6 ¶ 14.) Responding to Aish's argument that he had merely pointed out commonplace dangers to Kindschy, the court of appeals declared it "contrary to the record and the circuit court's findings," explaining

Kindschy testified that she was scared of Aish as a result of the comments he made to her, not that she was suddenly fearful that she or her family might be the victim of some wholly unrelated accident. In fact, one of Kindschy's co-workers testified that Kindschy appeared bothered and scared, and she would head straight for her car "as quickly as possible" to avoid Aish. The record also shows that the Blair Clinic added a security guard and cameras to address Kindschy's concerns about Aish.

(App.7 ¶ 17.) In total, "this evidence established a pattern of repeated actions that frightened Kindschy." (App.8 ¶ 19.) The court of appeals also rejected Aish's assertion he was not "threatening or intimidating" in a single, short clip of video evidence presented at hearing,¹ with the court of appeals directing Aish to the numerous other, non-videotaped incidents which the circuit court had found to be threatening and intimidating due to Kindschy and her colleagues' credible testimony. (App.8 ¶ 18.)

Turning to the circuit court's finding that Aish's conduct served "no legitimate purpose," the court of appeals affirmed there is "no legitimate purpose in intimidating someone to get them to leave their job because the person making the intimidating statements does not agree with the victim's employment or the work that the victim's employer performs." (App.9 ¶ 22.) Noting Aish's simultaneous intent to "influence Kindschy to leave her employment and to proselytize," the court explained his argument "overlooked the circuit court's finding that he also intended to frighten Kindschy," and that "[h]arassing

¹ In his Petition for Review, Aish describes extensively a brief video clip of just one encounter between himself and Kindschy. (Pet. 6-7.) The court of appeals declined to include the video as unnecessary in the appellate record (1/15/21 Order), and therefore Aish's self-serving description of the video should be rejected.)

behavior cannot be transformed into nonharassing, legitimate conduct simply by labeling it as political protest." (App.10 \P 23.) Thus, Aish could not shield his conduct in the name of free speech. *Id*.

Finally, the court of appeals addressed Aish's First Amendment concern that an injunction prohibiting his presence at the clinic while Kindschy is at the clinic effectively prevented him from protesting abortion at the clinic at all due to the limited schedule during which Planned Parenthood conducted counseling there. (App.11 ¶ 25.) Citing numerous state and federal First Amendment cases (discussed in greater detail *infra*), the court of appeals concluded "it is well established that an individual's ability to protest is not unlimited," which also applies to anti-abortion protests. (App.11 ¶ 26.) Furthermore, the court explained, "[t]o be clear, Aish was not protesting at an abortion clinic. His efforts were not geared toward changing the minds of the general public or legislators." (App.11 ¶ 25.) Aish's specifically harassing conduct, separate from any alleged anti-abortion protest he carried out, was not public in nature. (App.12 ¶ 27.) "Rather, Aish was attempting to convince a private citizen to end her employment with a private organization, by making comments that instilled fear and trepidation. Aish's efforts were almost entirely personal—and not public—in nature." (*Id.*)

ARGUMENT

I. The court of appeals properly upheld the circuit court's factual finding that Aish's statements and conduct were intended to and did intimidate Kindschy, and that such targeted intimidation is not protected by the First Amendment.

Both the circuit court and the court of appeals strictly adhered to the line between speech protected by the First Amendment to the U.S.

Constitution and Art. I, § 3 of the Wisconsin Constitution, and speech and conduct that merely amounts to harassment under Wis. Stat. § 813.125.

The definition of harassment in Wisconsin is "[e]ngaging in a course of conduct or repeatedly committing acts which harass or intimidate another person and which serve no legitimate purpose." Wis. Stat. § 813.125(1)(am)(4)b. The circuit court found Aish's statements and behavior on multiple occasions constituted harassment because it scared and intimidated Kindschy. (R.36:84; App.23:16-20.) The circuit court supported its finding with citation to testimony regarding Aish's veiled threats to Kindschy on February 25, 2020, that she "would be lucky if she made it home safely;" on February 18, 2020, that he hoped she "make[s] it home safely for another day or two" and adopts his views while she "still ha[s] time;" and on October 8, 2019, that "it won't be long before bad things will happen to [Kindschy] and [her] family." (R.36:82-83; App. 21:16-22:5.) Citing testimony that Aish was "loud and aggressive," the circuit court concluded "[t]hose types of things...are statements that address somebody's loss of life or their family members being hurt or harmed and certainly that would intimidate somebody." (R.36:84; App.23:9-10,16-20.)

Contrary to Aish's argument, the circuit court did not find Aish had engaged in harassment merely because Kindschy had found his statements "upsetting," "disturbing," or "offensive."(Pet. 14.) The court concluded that Aish specifically sought out and intimidated Kindschy with his words and physically-threatening proximity to her, and supported that finding with record evidence. Aish followed Kindschy and verbally accosted her, causing her to be worried about her personal safety. On October 8, 2019, he followed closely behind Kindschy all the

Page 11 of 20

way to her car. (R.35:7.) While standing approximately three to four feet from her car, Aish said to Kindschy, in a raised and direct voice, that Kindschy would possibly be killed by a drunk driver on her way home and that it would not be too long before bad things started happening to her and her family. (R.35:7, 27, 28.) The combination of Aish's words and his physical proximity to her frightened Kindschy, the court found. (R.35:7,10.)

At the time of the October 8, 2019 incident, Kindschy had known Aish as a protestor for six years. (R.35:10-11.) She testified that in the previous years, when Aish approached her, he spoke nicely to her and discussed his beliefs, his mission, and would tell her to have a nice day. (R.35:11, 22, 29.) As a result, Kindschy was very frightened on October 8 not only by Aish's new pattern of physical proximity to her and his intimidating words, but by the stark change in his demeanor. (R.35:19.)

On October 15, 2019, Kindschy discovered that Aish's change in demeanor was not a singular event. As she was leaving the health center, she observed Aish being loud and aggressive. (R.35:12.) She saw him receive a ticket from a police officer. (*Id.*) She was scared of Aish's aggressive and angry behavior. (*Id.*) Aish approached her vehicle and said to her in an angry, cold, and loud tone "you have blood on your hands." (R.35:14.) Two weeks later, on October 29, 2019, Aish displayed additional conduct that made Kindschy feel threatened, when in response to her ignoring him, Aish "ran out into the road after [her] pumping his anti-abortion sign into [her] car window within inches of it." (R.35:16.)

On February 18, 2020, as Kindschy left work, Aish again followed her directly to her vehicle. (R.35:15.) Aish accused Kindschy

Page 12 of 20

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